

International Journal of Innovative Research and Reviews ISSN: 2636-8919 Website: www.injirr.com doi:

Research paper, Short communication, Review, Technical paper



RESEARCH ARTICLE

Liquefaction Analysis for Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey) Soils According to Turkey Building Earthquake Regulations 2018 (TBER-2018)

Lale ÖNCÜ^{1,*} Ekrem KALKAN^{2,3,4}

¹ Erzurum Governorship, Investment Monitoring Coordination Directorate Erzurum, Türkiye

² Department of Civil Engineering, Atatürk University, Erzurum, Türkiye

³ Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences, Department of Geological Engineering, Atatürk University, Erzurum, Türkiye

⁴ Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences, Department of Nanoscience and Nanoengineering, Atatürk University, Erzurum, Türkiye

* Corresponding author E-mail: lyilmaz@atauni.edu.tr

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Received : 10.15.2022 Accepted : 11.25.2023 Published : 12.15.2023	Erzurum, like many provinces of Turkey, which is located in the earthquake zone, faces the danger of a major earthquake at any moment. There are many active fault lines especially in the eastern, southern and central districts of Erzurum (NE Turkey). Especially the central
<i>Keywords:</i> Erzurum Aziziye District Earthquake Liquefaction Turkey Building Earthquake Regulations 2018	districts will be highly affected by a possible earthquake due to their proximity to active fault lines. In this study, the liquefaction potential of Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey), which is considered to have a high liquefaction risk due to the high groundwater level in the central districts of Erzurum province, was investigated according to the Turkish Building Earthquake Regulations (TBER). Since Aziziye District is a district with a large construction and population density, the results of the study are important. The drilling data belonging to the ground investigation reports (made by the Municipality, Public Institutions and Organizations and individuals) and the master's thesis on this subject were used for Aziziye District. Within the scope of the study, local soil classes were determined according to TBER- 2018 and liquefaction potentials were calculated according to earthquake magnitude Mw=6.0, Mw=6.5, Mw=7.0, Mw=7.5 and earthquake ground motion level DD-2. As a result, it was determined that a large part of Aziziye District is under liquefaction risk.

Contents	
1. Introduction	70
1.1. Geology of the Study Area	72
1.2. Tectonics of the Study Area	72
2. Material and Method	72
2.1. Liquefaction Analysis According to TBER-2018	74
3. Results and Discussion	74
4. Conclusions	75
Acknowledgment	75
Conflict of Interest	75
References	75

1. Introduction

Turkey, which is located at the junction of the Eurasian and Arabian plates, faces many destructive earthquakes due to its geological structure and topographical features. Many lives and property have been lost in the earthquakes that occurred in the past, and earthquakes with a magnitude of Mw = 6.0and above are expected to occur in many cities at any time in the future. In order to take measures against the disasters

 Cite this article
 Öncü L, Kalkan E. Liquefaction Analysis for Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey) Soils According to Turkey Building

 Earthquake Regulations 2018 (TBER-2018). International Journal of Innovative Research and Reviews (INJIRR) (2023) 7(2) 70-76

 Link to this article:
 http://www.injirr.com/article/view/214



Copyright © 2023 Authors.

This is an open access article distributed under the <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, and sharing of this material in any medium, provided the original work is not modified or used for commercial purposes.

experienced in our country (the most prominent of these disasters was the earthquake), studies were initiated after 1940. In this context, a total of 10 disaster/earthquake regulations, the first of which was published in 1940, have been enacted and implemented in order to minimize earthquake damages. These regulations listed below have been renewed according to current information.

- 1940 - Italian Building Instructions for the Construction to be Built in Earthquake Areas

- 1944 - Regulations on Temporary Construction in Earthquake Areas

- 1949 - Turkey Earthquake Zones Building Regulations

- 1953 - Regulation on Structures to be Built in Earthquake Zones

- 1962 - Regulation on Structures to be Built in Disaster Areas

- 1968 - Regulation on Structures to be Built in Disaster Areas

- 1975 - Regulation on Structures to be Built in Disaster Areas

- 1998 - Regulation on Structures to be Built in Disaster Areas

- 2007 - Regulation on Buildings to be constructed in Earthquake Zones

- 2018 - Turkey Building Earthquake Regulations (TBER-2018).

The TBER-2018 regulation, which was published in 2018 and entered into force on 1 January 2019, shows major differences in terms of calculation methods and scope compared to the previous regulation in 2007. In 1998 and 2007 regulations, Turkey was divided into 5 earthquake zones.

In TBER-2018, the concept of earthquake zone has been abolished by emphasizing site-specific research, and analysis and design. In TBER-2018, a separate soil investigation report is provided for each site/parcel and with the web application of Turkey Earthquake Hazard Map published by Disaster and Emergency Management Presidency (AFAD), it is possible to determine separate spectral properties for each site/parcel.

In this respect, TBER-2018 emphasized the soil-structure interaction and enabled the design of buildings in a healthier and more reliable manner. In addition, TBER-2018 is the first earthquake code to introduce the liquefaction potential/risk analysis and calculation method.



Figure 1 Liquefaction mechanism: soil particles floating due to the increment of pore water pressure [1]

The word liquefaction first used after the 1964 Niigata Mw7.6 earthquakes is defined as a change of the soil phase from a solid to a liquid state due to pore water pressure increment, and the corresponding loss of effective stress, during an earthquake. In other words, liquefaction is defined as the tendency of water-saturated loose soils to compress under seismic loads and the decrease in shear strength due to increased pore water pressure (Figure 1). As a result, large deformation, settlement and slippage occur [1, 2].



Figure 2 Schematic representation of lateral spreading [1, 3]

Liquefaction is a relevant soil phenomenon for geotechnical design as it may cause local or global failures of foundations and even the collapse of complete structures. Among the potential consequences of soil liquefaction, one of the most dangerous ones is lateral spreading. This phenomenon as the horizontal displacement of a soil layer riding on liquefied soil either down a gentle slope or toward a free face like a river channel [1, 3-5] (Figure 2).

Liquefaction, which was first mentioned by Mogami and Kubo [6], started to be investigated and analyzed by many researchers due to the damages caused by the Niagata-Japan (Mw=9.2) and Great Alaska (Mw=7.5) earthquakes that occurred in 1964. Seed and Idriss [7], Iwasaki et al. [8], Tokimatsu and Yoshimi [9], Seed et al. [10] and Youd and Idriss [11] are important studies on this subject. In our country, many damages occurred due to liquefaction after the 17 August 1999 Kocaeli earthquake. After 1999, many researchers have conducted studies on liquefaction and measures to be taken against liquefaction [12–16].

In liquefaction analyses performed before TBER-2018, mostly Seed and Idriss [7], Iwasaki et al. [8], Tokimatsu and Yoshimi [9] methods were used. TBER-2018 is based on the determination of liquefaction potential with a single procedure.

Erzurum province is among the provinces with high earthquake risk in our country. Especially in and around the city center, there are many live faults and many earthquakes have occurred on these faults in the past. The 1983 Horasan earthquake with a magnitude of Mw=6.9 caused many losses of life and property. In all three central districts of Erzurum city center (Aziziye District, Palandöken District and Yakutiye District) there is a dense construction. Especially in Aziziye District, loss of life and property is likely to occur after an earthquake due to the high groundwater level and soil structure. For this reason, it is important to investigate the liquefaction potential of Aziziye District of Erzurum Province and to identify liquefiable areas. In this context, the drilling data of the soil investigation reports (Municipality, Public Institutions and Organizations and individuals) for Aziziye District were used.

Within the scope of the study, local soil classes were determined according to TBER-2018 and liquefaction potentials were calculated and mapped according to different earthquake magnitudes (Mw=6.5, Mw=7.0 and Mw=7.5) and earthquake levels (DD1, DD2 and DD3). As a result, it was determined that a large part of Aziziye District is under liquefaction risk.

1.1. Geology of the Study Area

The surface geology of the study area is largely covered by the Oligocene-Quaternary aged volcano-sedimentary series (Figure 3). The crystalline basement in the central part of the study area consists of complex, high-grade metamorphic rocks. Quaternary alluvial deposits unconformably cover all units. The thickness of the sediment, which is the sum of six stratigraphic units, is about 6.5 km in the region [17–21].



Figure 3Simplified geological map showing major compressional and extensional structures (modified from Oruç et al., Koçyiğit et al. [21, 22] and location map of the study area. KÇFZ, Kelkit-Çoruh fault zone; TAFZ, Tercan-Aşkale fault zone; KBF, Kavakbaşı fault; HKB, Hasankale basin; HB, Horasan basin; ÇFZ, Çobandede fault zone; DFZ, Dumlu fault zone; MF, Malazgirt fault; KYF, Karayazı fault; TF, Tutak fault; KGF, Kağızman fault; HF, Horasan fault; LDF, Leninakan-Digor fault; SF, Süphan fault; EF, Erciş fault; HTF, Hasantimur Lake fault; BGF, Balk Lake fault; DF, Doğubeyazıt fault; IF, Iğdır fault; AF, Aras fault; EFZ, Erevan fault zone; PSFZ, Pambak-Seven fault zone.

There is slope rubble along the areas where the Erzurum plain meets the Palandöken Mountains, old alluvium at the edges, and new alluvium units that continue to form in the river valleys and plains in the central parts. According to the results of the drilling study, the underlying older geological units are generally composed of water-saturated fine-grained sand, silt and clay-sized grains, and the current thick alluvial deposits have a wide distribution, and the groundwater level is also at very high levels [23].

1.2. Tectonics of the Study Area

There are many active faults in and around Erzurum in the Eastern Anatolia Region. According to the Turkey Fault Map, there are many active faults passing through and south of Erzurum city center. Palandöken Fault Zone in the south is a left laterally thrust fault and extends along Palandöken Mountain. Erzurum Fault Zone located in the north consists of many parallel faults. Passing through Börekli and Tuzcu neighborhoods in the southeast of Erzurum city center, the fault extends east to the city center and the zone then continues towards the northeast [24]. These faults near Erzurum city center are capable of producing earthquakes with magnitude greater than 7. Therefore, Erzurum and its vicinity should be considered as one of the regions with high earthquake hazard in the country [25-29]. Many large and small earthquakes occurred in Erzurum and its surroundings, which has high tectonic activity, between 1901 and 2011 (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Epicenter distribution of earthquakes that occurred in the region between 1901-2011 and active fault map prepared by MTA [23]

Figure 3 shows the fault lines in Erzurum and its surroundings. Erzurum is located close to the North Anatolian Earthquake Fault zone and the East Anatolian Fault zone, which are the most dangerous fault zones in Turkey. In addition, there are many direct fault lines such as Palandöken and Kandilli Fault and Erzurum Fault zone in and around the city center. Many earthquakes have occurred in Erzurum throughout history [24]. It is very close to the active faults especially in Palandöken District (Erzurum, NE Turkey). According to Turkey Earthquake Hazard Maps Interactive Web Application, the distance of the closest direct fault to Dadaşkent neighborhood of Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey), where the highest population density and construction is the highest, is 4 km [30].

2. Material and Method

Within the scope of the study, ground investigation and zoning plan survey reports made within the borders of Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey) were obtained from the relevant municipalities and institutions.



The obtained reports were carefully examined and the boreholes to be used in liquefaction analysis were determined. Geotechnical parameters (groundwater level, SPT N values, unit volume weights, consistency limits, soil classes, fine grain percentages, etc.) of 20 boreholes were determined. The view of the 20 boreholes used in the analyses within the scope of the study on the map is given in Figure 5. In addition, the coordinate-borehole depth-groundwater level (groundwater level) information of the boreholes are given in Table 1.

Figure 5 Drilling points

Table 1 Information about the drillings used in the study

Duilling	Coordinate V		\mathbf{D} (1())	Groundwater level (m)	Vs	Local Ground
Drilling	Coordinate X	Coordinate Y	Depth (m)		(m/sn)	Class
SK1	4426192	673823	20	2	220-310	ZD
SK2	4420147	688823	20	3	130-190	ZE
SK3	4424314	687887	15	5	250-270	ZD
SK4	4418571	688111	15	NO	230-260	ZD
SK5	4419255	687740	15	NO	250-350	ZD
SK6	4428603	684215	20	1	110-160	ZE
SK7	4420267	688188	20	1	190-330	ZD
SK8	4421362	686731	20	3	150-230	ZD
SK9	4421655	694044	15	NO	240-355	ZD
SK10	4422616	4421655	15	0.6	150-250	ZD
SK11	4422481	683364	15	1.2	150-250	ZD
SK12	4416727	431820	10	NO	773-805	ZB
SK13	4427547	416903	20	5	246-343	ZD
SK14	4425409	429407	15	1.3	170-220	ZD
SK15	4421265	430944	15	8	270-290	ZD
SK16	4440357	388810	15	5.5	212-387	ZD
SK17	4418003	415074	20	5.3	195-380	ZD
SK18	4420313	686777	20	3	142-176	ZE
SK19	4421916	685388	15	2	140-212	ZE
SK20	4421159	686637	15	2	123-129	ZE

In the TBER-2018, liquefaction potential analyses, which were previously performed according to different methods of different researchers, have been reduced to a single method and a special section has been reserved for this purpose. In this section of the regulation, there are some prerequisites for liquefaction analyses of soils. These conditions are;

- The most important parameter for liquefaction is groundwater level. The most important condition for liquefaction is the presence of earthquake load and groundwater level above 20 m in the ground environment.

- The presence of groundwater is not sufficient. It is also necessary that the soil layers consist of liquefiable soil formations. Unplastic silt (silts with ML-plasticity index less than 12%), silty sand (SM), sand (SP), sand with little gravel and mixtures of these soils are liquefiable soils.

According to the TBER-2018, SPT N30, yn (kN/m³), yd (kN/m³), plasticity index (%), USCS Soil Class and fine grain percentage FC (%) are used as soil parameters for liquefaction analysis. In addition, earthquake magnitude (Mw) and spectral acceleration coefficient (SDS) are used. To calculate SDS, the local soil class of the drilling location should be determined according to TBER-2018. Earthquake ground motion level (DD) is used to determine the spectral acceleration coefficient. In this study, earthquake ground motion level DD-2 (earthquake ground motion level with

10% probability of exceedance in 50 years (recurrence period 475 years)) and earthquake magnitude Mw=7.5 were selected.

Shear wave velocity (Vs) is the most important parameter when determining the local soil class. The local soil classes of the boreholes were determined by using the Vs velocities obtained as a result of the seismic refraction tests (MASW-Multichannel Surface Wave Analysis Method) performed in the survey reports and presented in Table 1.

According to TBER-2018, Turkey Earthquake Hazard Maps Interactive Web Application (Emergency Management Presidency-AFAD) is used to determine parcel-based soil spectral properties (such as SS, S1, SDS, SD1). After the parcel/site is marked on the map on the web application (or after the coordinates are entered); earthquake ground motion level and soil class are entered and the values are calculated in the reporting process. As a result of the calculation, sitespecific spectral properties are determined. While SDS is used in liquefaction analysis, all spectral values together with SDS are used in building design.

Since the soils of Erzurum Aziziye District consist of alluvial units with high groundwater level, they are generally classified as ZD and ZE local soils. When the earthquake ground motion level is selected as DD-2, SDS≥0.75. In case of SDS≥0.75, the Earthquake Design Class is DTS=1a or 1 according to the Building Use Class (BKS1 or 2 or 3).

2.1. Liquefaction Analysis According to TBER-2018

According to the TBER-2018, the following calculations are made respectively during liquefaction analysis:

SPT values are corrected:

In the analysis, correction coefficients are used for automatic SPT and impact ramming in TBER-2018. After the correction coefficients are determined, the correction coefficients are multiplied by the SPT-N numbers obtained from the SPT experiments performed in the field, and the corrected SPT-N number, i.e. (N1)60 is obtained. (N1)60 (corrected SPT-N) number is calculated by the following formula:

$$(N_1)_{60} = N^* C_E^* C_N^* C_S^* C_B^* C_R$$

Correction coefficients used in this formula;

CN (for depth) = $\sqrt{95.76 * 1/\sigma' v \le 1.7}$

In order to calculate CN, the effective stress is calculated.

CB (for borehole diameter) = 1

CE (for energy rate) = 0.90

CS (for sampler) = 1

CR (for rod length) = 0,75

The corrected SPT-N number obtained with the correction coefficients given above should be corrected again according to the fine grain ratio (IO or FC). The corrected SPT-N number obtained as a result of this correction is expressed by $(N1)_{60,f.}$

$$(N_1)_{60,f} = \alpha + \beta * (N_1)_{60}$$

The liquefaction resistance is calculated by using (N1)60,f obtained after all corrections are made.

 τR (liquefaction resistance) is obtained by multiplying the cyclic resistance ratio (CRRM7.5) corresponding to the earthquake with moment magnitude Mw=7.5 by the design earthquake moment magnitude correction coefficient (CM) and the effective vertical stress ($\sigma' \nu$).

$$\tau_{R} = CRR_{M7,5} * C_{M} * \sigma' v$$

$$C_{M} = 10^{2,24} / M_{W}^{2,56}$$

$$CRR_{7,5} = [1/(34 - (N_{1})_{60,f})] + [(N_{1})_{60,f}/135] + [50/(10,1)_{60,f}/135] + [50/(10,$$

Calculate the Shear Resistance of the Ground:

The shear resistance of the ground is calculated by the following formula:

 $\tau_{\text{erathquake}} = 0.65 * \sigma_{\text{V0}} * 0.4 * S_{\text{DS}} * r_{\text{d}}$

In this formula, $\sigma V0$ is the vertical stress (at the level of calculation). rd is the depth factor and represents the stress reduction coefficient at the analyzed level (z-analyzed depth). SDS is the short period design spectral acceleration

coefficient obtained from AFAD-Turkey Earthquake Hazard Maps Interactive Web Application.

The following formula is used for the calculation of rd (stress reduction coefficient):

$r_d=1-0,00765*z z \le 9,15m$

According to the TBER-2018, the safety against liquefaction is made with the comparison given below:

(FS); $\tau_R/\tau_{\text{erathquake}} \ge 1,10$

3. Results and Discussion

A total of 20 borings and seismic refraction (MASW) results obtained from ground investigation and zoning reports prepared within the borders of Erzurum Aziziye District were used [31]. According to the drilling and seismic refraction data used, local soil classes and spectral coefficients were determined using Turkey Earthquake Hazard Maps Interactive Web Application in accordance with TBER-2018 (Table 1).

All these data were used in liquefaction analyses as defined in TBER-2018 and liquefaction analyses were performed separately for the boreholes used in the study. The liquefaction analyses were repeated for four different earthquake magnitudes (Mw=6.0, Mw=6.5, Mw=7.0 and Mw7.5). The liquefaction conditions obtained as a result of liquefaction analyses are given in Table 2.

Table 2 Liquefaction analyses results

Drilling	Liquefaction Condition (Mw=6.0)	Liquefaction Condition (Mw=6.5)	Liquefaction Condition (Mw=7.0)	Liquefaction Condition (Mw=7.5)
SK1	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK2	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK3	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK4	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK5	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK6	NO	YES	YES	YES
SK7	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK8	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK9	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK10	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK11	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK12	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK13	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK14	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK15	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK16	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK17	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK18	NO	NO	NO	NO
SK19	YES	YES	YES	YES
SK20	YES	YES	YES	YES

In the studies carried out in Aziziye District, it was determined that the soils in the boreholes generally have a sandy and silty structure. In the liquefaction analyses of Aziziye District according to TBER-2018, as a result of the analyses using earthquake magnitude Mw=6.0; there is no liquefaction risk in boreholes SK-1, SK-3, SK-4, SK-5, SK-6, SK-9, SK-12, SK-13, SK-14, SK-15 and SK-18. Liquefaction will occur in other boreholes.

In order to investigate the effect of earthquake magnitude, liquefaction analyses were repeated for Mw=6.5, Mw=7.0 and Mw=7.5 for the same boreholes. As a result of the

analyses, all boreholes except borehole SK-6 gave the same results with Mw=6.0 earthquake magnitude. While SK-6 borehole does not carry liquefaction risk at Mw=6.0 earthquake magnitude, it carries liquefaction risk in all analyses performed for all earthquake magnitude values larger than Mw=6.0. The liquefaction risk for Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey) is independent of earthquake magnitude and depends on soil properties and Groundwater level.

Although there are no live faults within the borders of Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey), there are many active live faults in the neighboring districts of the district.

There is a high probability of an earthquake of 6.0 and greater at any time in the district, which is located approximately 1-15 km close to live faults. When the liquefaction analyses and earthquake risk are considered together, it can be said that Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey) faces liquefaction risk in the event of an earthquake.

4. Conclusions

Erzurum, like many provinces of Turkey, which is located in the earthquake zone, faces the danger of a major earthquake at any moment. There are many live fault lines especially in the eastern, southern and central districts of Erzurum. Especially the central districts will be highly affected by a possible earthquake due to their proximity to live fault lines. In this study, the liquefaction potential of Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey), which is considered to have a high liquefaction risk due to the high groundwater level in the central districts of Erzurum province, was investigated according to the TBER. Since Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey) is a district with a large construction and population density, the results of the study are important. In the study, local soil classes were determined according to TBER-2018 and liquefaction potentials were calculated according to earthquake magnitude Mw=6.0, Mw=6.5, Mw=7.0, Mw=7.5 and earthquake ground motion level DD-2. As a result, it was determined that a large part of Aziziye District (Erzurum, NE Turkey) is under liquefaction risk.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank Erzurum Metropolitan Municipality, Aziziye Municipality, Erzurum Provincial Directorate of Environment and Urbanization for their support and permission.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

 Araujo W, Ledezma C. Factors That Affect Liquefaction-Induced Lateral Spreading in Large Subduction Earthquakes. *Applied Sciences* (2020) 10(18):6503. doi:10.3390/app10186503.

- [2] Durukan S, Akbuğa E. Liquefaction Analysis According to Turkish Building Earthquake Regulation (2018) and Sığacık (Seferihisar/İzmir) Case Study. Artvin Çoruh University, Natural Hazards Application and Research Center, Journal of Natural Hazards and Environment (2020) 6(2):304–318. doi:10.21324/dacd.617423.
- [3] Youd TL. Application of MLR Procedure for Prediction of Liquefaction-Induced Lateral Spread Displacement. *Journal of* geotechnical and geoenvironmental engineering (2018) 6:144. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)GT.1943-5606.0001860.
- [4] Bray JD, Boulanger R, Kramer SL, Rourke TO, Green RA, Rob PK, et al. Liquefaction-Induced Ground Movement Effects. In: *Proceedings of the U.S.-New Zealand–Japan International Workshop, PEER Report 2017/02.* Berkeley, CA, USA (2010). p. 150.
- [5] Jia J. Soil Dynamics and Foundation Modeling. In: *Liquefaction*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing: Cham (2017). p. 740.
- [6] Mogami T, Kubo K. The Behaviour of Soil during Vibration. In: Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering (1953). p. 152–153.
- [7] Seed HB, Idriss IM. Simplified procedure for evaluating soil liquefaction potential. *Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division* (1971) 97(9):1249–1273. doi:10.1061/JSFEAQ.0001662.
- [8] Iwasaki T, Tokida K, Tatsuoka F. Soil Liquefaction Potential Evaluation with Use of the Simplified Procedure. In: International Conference on Recent Advances in Geotechnical Earthquake Engineering and Soil Dynamics, St. Louis (1981). p. 209–214.
- [9] Tokimatsu K, Yoshimi Y. Empirical correlation of soil liquefaction based on SPT N-value and fines content. *Soils and Foundations*, *JSSMFE* (1983) 23(4):56–74. doi:10.3208/sandf1972.23.4_56.
- [10] Seed HB, Tokimatsu K, Harder LF, Chung R. Influence of Spt Procedures in Soil Liquefaction Resistance Evaluations. *Journal of Geotechnical Engineering, ASCE* (1985) **111**, **12**:1425–1445. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9410(1985)111:12(1425).
- [11] Youd TL, Idriss IM. Liquefaction Resistance of Soils: Summary Report from the 1996 NCEER and 1998 NCEER/NSF Workshops on Evaluation of Liquefaction Resistance of Soils. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering* (2001) 127(4):297–313. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)1090-0241(2001)127:4(297).
- [12] Özsoy B, Durgunoğlu T. Sıvılaşma etkilerinin yüksek kayma modüllü zemin-çimento karışımı kolonlarla azaltılması, 5. Bildiri No: Ulusal Deprem Mühendisliği Kongresi (2003).
- [13] Sumer BM, Kaya A, Hansen N. Impact of liquefaction on coastal structures in the 1999 Kocaeli, Turkey earthquake. In: *The Twelfth International Offshore and Polar Engineering Conference*. OnePetro (2002).
- [14] Mollamahmutoglu M, Kayabali K, Beyaz T, Kolay E. Liquefactionrelated building damage in Adapazari during the Turkey earthquake of August 17, 1999. *Engineering Geology* (2003) 67(3-4):297–307. doi:10.1016/S0013-7952(02)00190-4.
- [15] Sumer BM, Ansal A, Cetin KO, Damgaard J, Gunbak AR, Hansen N, et al. Earthquake-induced liquefaction around marine structures. *Journal of Waterway, Port, Coastal, and Ocean Engineering* (2007) 133(1):55–82. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)0733-950X(2007)133:1(55).
- [16] Martin JR, Olgun CG, Mitchell JK, Durgunoglu HT. High-modulus columns for liquefaction mitigation. *Journal of geotechnical and* geoenvironmental engineering (2004) 130(6):561–571.
- [17] Şaroğlu F, Güner Y. Doğu Anadolu'nun jeomorfolojik gelişimine etki eden öğeler: Jeomorfoloji, volkanizma ilişkileri. *TJK Bülteni* (1981) 24:39–50.
- [18] Bayraktutan MS, Merefield JR, Grainger P, Evans BM, Yilmaz M, Kalkan E. Regional gas geochemistry in an active tectonic zone, Erzurum Basin, eastern Turkey. *Quarterly Journal of Engineering Geology* (1996) 29:209–218.
- [19] Kalkan E, Bayraktutan MS. Geotechnical evaluation of Turkish clay deposits: a case study in Northern Turkey. *Environmental Geology* (2008) 55(5):937–950. doi:10.1007/s00254-007-1044-8.
- [20] Kalkan E, Yarbaşı N, Canbolat MY, Özgül M. Evaluation of thermal mud characteristics of Erzurum (Köprüköy) clayey raw materials (NE Turkey. *International Journal of the Physical Sciences* (2012) 7(40):5566–5576.
- [21] Oruç B, Sertçelik İ, Kafadar Ö, Selim HH. Structural interpretation of the Erzurum Basin, eastern Turkey, using curvature gravity gradient tensor and gravity inversion of basement relief. *Journal of*

Applied Geophysics (2013) **88**:105–113. doi:10.1016/j.jappgeo.2012.10.006.

- [22] Koçyiğit A, Öztürk A, İnal SG, E. Karasu Havzası'nın (Erzurum) Tektonostratigrafisi ve Mekanik Yorumu, Cumhuriyet Üniversitesi. Mühendislik Fakültesi Yerbilimleri Dergisi (1985) 2:2–15.
- [23] Demirtaş R, Peynirci O, Yağyemez B. Erzurum ili Büyükşehir Belediyesi YerleÇim Alanının 1/5000 ölçekli Nazım İmar Planına Esas Jeolojik-Jeoteknik Etüt Raporu Kapsamında Erzurum Fay Zonunun Paleosismolojik ve Yüzey Faylanma Tehlike Zonu (Fay Tampon Bölge) Açısından Değerlendirilmesi. Erzurum Büyükşehir Belediyesi, Erzurum (2010).
- [24] J.M.O. Jeoloji Mühendisleri Odası Fay Üzerinde Yaşayan İllerimiz: Erzurum Raporu-5 (2021). Available from: https://www.jmo.org.tr/resimler/ekler/537dc875eb4c1f0_ek.pdf?tipi =58&turu=R&sube=0.
- [25] Doğan A, Yıldırım C, Nefeslioğlu HA, Emre Ö. Maden Tetkik ve Arama Genel Müdürlüğü, 2004 Aşkale(Erzurum) Depremleri Değerlendirme Raporu. MTA: Jeoloji Etütleri Dairesi Başkanlığı (2004).
- [26] Özer Ç, Bayrak E. Coulomb Stress Changes after 11 May 2017 Askale-Erzurum (NE Turkey) Earthquake (Mw = 4.7. International Journal of Earth Sciences Knowledge and Applications (2020) 2(1):13–18.
- [27] Tavlaşoğlu E. Erzurum Aziziye Bölgesi Jeolojik Ve Jeoteknik Çalışması. Yüksek lisans Tezi, Atatürk Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü. Erzurum (2021).
- [28] Güzelhan Ü. Atatürk Üniversitesi kampüsü batısının zemin dinamik parametrelerinin belirlenmesi. Yüksek lisans Tezi, Atatürk Üniversitesi. Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Erzurum (2023).
- [29] Bilgin Y. Kamu binalarında deprem-zemin-yapı etkileşiminin araştırılması; Erzurum örneği. Yüksek lisans Tezi, Atatürk Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü. Erzurum (2023).
- [30] M.T.A. Maden Teknik Arama Genel Müdürlüğü, Yer Bilimleri Harita Görüntüleyici (2023). Available from: http://yerbilimleri.mta.gov.tr/anasayfa.aspx.
- [31] A.F.A.D. Türkiye Deprem Tehlike Haritaları İnteraktif Web Uygulaması-AFAD (2023). Available from: https://tdth.afad.gov.tr/TDTH/main.xhtml.